S232607

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT FILED

HECTOR ALVARADO

FEB 2 3 2016

Plaintiff, Appellant and Petitioner

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

VS.

Deputy

DART CONTAINER CORPORATION OF CALIFORNIA

Defendant and Respondent

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO. E061645

PETITION FOR REVIEW

(Service on Attorney General and District Attorney required by Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17209, 17536.5)

LAVI & EBRAHIMIAN

Joseph Lavi
(SBN 209776; jlavi@lelawfirm.com)
Jordan D. Bello
(SBN 243190; jbello@lelawfirm.com
8889 W. Olympic Blvd., Suite 200
Beverly Hills, CA 90211
Tel: (310) 432-0000

Tel: (310) 432-0000 Fax: (310) 432-0001

DENNIS F. MOSS

ISSUES PRESENTED			
IN	TRODUCTION2		
ST	ATEMENT OF CASE7		
1.	Facts		
2.	Proceedings in the Trial Court10		
AF	RGUMENT-REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW12		
1.	REVIEW OF THE CONFLICT BETWEEN THE COURT OF		
	APPEAL'S RULING AND AUTHORITY THAT PRECEDED IT		
	IS OF VITAL IMPORTANCE TO WORKING MEN AND		
	WOMEN IN CALIFORNIA		
2.	THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION CONFLICTS WITH A		
	1957 ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINION THAT INFORMED		
	FUTURE WAGE ORDERS THAT DID NOT ADOPT THE		
	"FLUCTUATING WORKWEEK" CALCULATION MODEL 17		
3.	THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION HEREIN CONFLICTS		
	WITH "FINDINGS" OF THE IWC		
4.	THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION CONFLICTS WITH		
	CALIFORNIA APPELLATE COURT, STATUTORY, AND		
	OTHER AUTHORITY THAT PREDATE IT 20		
Α	. The Court of Appeal's Ruling Conflicts with Skyline Homes 20		

B. Cases that Followed Skyline Are Also in Direct Conflict With The
Court of Appeal's Decision Herein
C. This Court Acknowledged California's Rejection of "Fluctuating
Workweek" Calculations In Ramirez v. Yosemite Water (1999) 20
Cal.4th 78525
D. The Court of Appeal Decision Herein Conflicts with the
Codification of Skyline in Labor Code 515 (d)
E. The Court of Appeal's Decision Is In Direct Conflict with Marin v.
Costco Wholesale Corp's . (2008) 169 Cal. App. 4th 804, 817-818
Analysis of Skyline in the Context of a Wage Scheme that Includes a
Flat Rate "Bonus"
F. The Court of Appeal's Decision Conflicts with the DLSE's Valid
Interpretation of How Overtime Should Be Calculated, an
Interpretation that, Contrary to the Court's View, Aligns With Statutory
and Appellate Authority Expressly Referenced in the Manual 28
G. The Court of Appeal's Decision Conflicts with Huntington
Memorial v. Superior Court (2007) 131 Cal.app.4th 893 30
5. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S RELIANCE ON 29 CFR 788.209(a)
CONFLICTS WITH FEDERAL REGULATIONS THAT
DIRECTLY APPLY TO DART'S COMPENSATION SCHEME 32
CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Alcala v. Western Ag Enterprises (1986) 182 Cal. App. 3d 5463, 23, 24
California Manufacturers Assn. v. Industrial Welfare Com. (1980)
109 Cal.App.3d 95, 11122
Ghory v. Al-Laham (1989) 209 Cal.App.3d 1487, 1490-1491
Hernandez v. Mendoza (1988) 199 Cal. App.3d 721,7283, 23, 24
Huntington Memorial v. Superior Court (2007)
131 Cal.App.4th 8934, 30, 31
Industrial Welfare Com. v. Superior Court (1980) 27 Cal.3d 690 22, 30
Lujan v. Southern California Gas Co. (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 1200 3, 24
Marin v. Costco Wholesale Corp. (2008)
169 Cal.App.4th 804
Ramirez v. Yosemite Water (1999) 20 Cal.4th 785 3, 25
Skyline Homes, Inc. v. Department of Industrial Relations (1985)
165 Cal.App.3d 239 passim
Tidewater Marine Western, Inc. v. Bradshaw (1996)
14 Cal. 4th 557
Walling v. Hardwood Co., supra, 325 U.S. at p. 424

Statutes

29 USC 207(e)(5)35
Business and Professions Code section 17200 et seq
Labor Code 201, 202, and 203
Labor Code 515 (d)
Labor Code section 226
Labor Code section 2698 et seq
Other Authorities
29 Ops. Attorney General, Opinion No. 57-29, pg. 168-172
Private Attorneys' General Act of 200411
Wage Order No. 112
Regulations
29 CFR § 778.2031, 34, 35
29 CFR § 778.500(b)32
29 CFR § 778.502
29 CFR § 788.209(a)

ISSUES PRESENTED

The issues presented for review are:

- 1. Under California law, how must an employer calculate the "regular rate" for the purpose of determining overtime pay when a weekly wage has an hourly wage component and fixed amount component that is payable irrespective of whether or not overtime hours are worked?
- 2. Can an employer, under California law, divide a flat sum component of a weekly wage by total hours worked each week (apply "fluctuating workweek" methodology) to arrive at the "regular rate" for purposes of calculating overtime, where the number of hours varies from week to week, causing the overtime rate to decrease each week that the amount of overtime work increases?
- 3. Does California law require an employer to divide a flat sum component of a weekly wage by the maximum number of non-overtime hours for the week (e.g. 40 hours) in determining the "regular rate" to be utilized in calculating overtime?
- 4. If California law is indeed silent on how to calculate overtime when flat sums called "bonuses are paid as part of a weekly wage, was the Court of Appeal's application of 29 CFR 788.209 (a) wrong, given the provisions of 29 CFR 778.502 and 29 CFR 778.203.

INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal issued a decision that threatens to sweep away, in one stroke, years of firmly-established California case law that distinguishes the Federal means of calculating overtime for employees from California's means of calculating overtime when an employee's wages include a fixed salary component that is paid irrespective of whether overtime is worked. The Slip Opinion is attached hereto. Review is imperative to protect well established substantive overtime rights from forfeiture on account of a pay scheme, adopted by the Court of Appeals, that reduces, with each additional minute of overtime worked, the hourly rate upon which overtime must be calculated. The authority turned on its head by the Court of Appeal decision includes:

• 29 Ops. Attorney General, Opinion No. 57-29, pg. 168-172 (May 15, 1957) in which the Attorney General, in response to a question posed by the Chairman of the Industrial Welfare Commission ("IWC")¹ regarding application of the Federal fluctuating work week methodology for calculating overtime, unequivocally rejected that methodology, opting

The IWC is the quasi-legislative body that sets minimum wage and overtime law. Back in 1957 its authority was limited to women and children. Since its chairman received the 1957 A.G. Opinion, the IWC has repeatedly enacted wage orders with overtime provisions not unlike those operative when the AG Opinion issued, and it has not adopted the "fluctuating work week" methodology in any of those enactments.

instead for division of the salary by the regular workweek of forty hours.

- Skyline Homes, Inc. v. Department of Industrial Relations (1985) 165 Cal.App.3d 239 held that the fluctuating work week methodology does not apply under the California Wage Orders despite its applicability under the FLSA because of the differences between California law and the FLSA, including the 8 hour day provisions of California law.
- Alcala v. Western Ag Enterprises (1986) 182 CA 3d 546, 551 embraced and applied Skyline's methodology for calculating overtime and rejection of the "fluctuating work week" method.
- Hernandez v. Mendoza (1988) 199 Cal.App.3d 721,728, where an employee had a fixed amount per workweek wage, the court expressly held that the Skyline overtime calculation methodology applied.
- Ghory v. Al-Laham (1989) 209 Cal.App.3d 1487, 1490-1491 adopted Skyline analysis rejecting the fluctuating work week methodology in application of California overtime law.
- Ramirez v. Yosemite Water (1999) 20 Cal.4th 785,795 acknowledged the continuing viability of Skyline's overtime calculation methodology, distinguishing it from the federal rule authorizing use of the fluctuating workweek methodology.
- Lujan v. Southern California Gas Co. (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 1200, upheld Skyline analysis in a context where meter readers were paid a fixed amount per route (not per Saturday or Sunday worked as here), and found

that dividing fixed route pay by actual hours worked to determine "regular rate" was improper. Independent of its adoption of *Skyline*, the court did rule that because of a collective bargaining agreement overtime exemption in the law, the overtime system utilized in *Lujan* was not illegal. Such an exemption is not available here.

- Huntington Memorial v. Superior Court (2007) 131 Cal.App.4th 893. In a non-flat rate context, the Court of Appeal rejected, as inconsistent with the purpose of California's overtime requirements, a pay plan that, like the pay plan here, caused the "regular rate" to decrease the more hours of overtime worked.
- Marin v. Costco Wholesale Corp. (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 804, 817-818 where the Court of Appeal, relying on Skyline, as well as the DLSE Manual provision rejected by the Court of Appeal herein, expressly rejected application of the "fluctuating work week methodology" in calculating overtime in flat rate "bonus" contexts.

By rejecting, implicitly or explicitly, no fewer than seven decisions from other California appellate courts and at least one from this Court, the Court of Appeal has engendered substantial doctrinal confusion requiring this Court's review.

The Court of Appeal reached its unprecedented holding without grappling with the fact that it is adopting the fluctuating work week approach to a flat amount component of a weekly wage (a "salary" in fact if

not in name), in the face of over fifty years of rejection of that approach-beginning with the AG's Opinion in 1957, continuing with the Industrial Welfare Commission's rejection of the "fluctuating workweek approach in "Findings" in 1963²; and the case law that followed beginning with *Skyline Homes, Inc., supra,* in 1985, and culminating in *Marin, supra* that applied *Skyline* to a fixed payment (i.e. salary, characterized as a "bonus" in a context where the employee, as in this case, also earned hourly wages).

The error in the Court of Appeal's analysis stems from a focus on a "bonus" characterization of the salary element of the Dart compensation system, not substance. Respondent Dart's plan paid flat amount payments in weeks in which weekend work is performed of \$15 for one weekend day worked, and \$30 for two weekend days worked. Dart called these fixed amounts "bonuses". Just as easily, Dart's policies could have called these flat amounts weekly "salaries" paid in addition to hourly pay for those weeks when their workers worked on weekends. Such payments, no matter

² Per the 2002 DLSE Manual: "Recent research in IWC archives has disclosed that in 1963 'Findings', the Commission stated: 'In defining its intent as to the regular rate of pay set forth in Section 3(a)(3)(A) and (B) to be used as a basis for overtime computation, the Commission indicated that it did not intend to follow the "fluctuating work week" formula used in some computations under the Fair Labor Standards Act. It was the Commission's intent that in establishing the regular rate of pay for salaried employees the weekly remuneration is divided by the agreed or usual hours of work exclusive of daily hours over eight.' Thus, the DLSE position (and the Skyline court) is correct." DLSE Manual Page 48-2

how they are referred to, are salaries, not unlike the salaries at issue in the cases cited above. A "salary", as opposed to an hourly wage, is a fixed amount paid to an employee, measured by day, week, month or year, irrespective of the hours worked during the pay period. Here, in addition to hourly wages, Dart's employees earned salaries of \$30 or \$15 in any week they worked a weekend day. The only difference between this case and cases like Skyline, Ghory, and Hernandez, the salaries in those cases were the only wages paid in those cases, and here, the employees received both hourly wages and salaries in weeks they worked on weekends. Nothing in a mixed hourly pay-salary pay wage system, makes the salary component unlike any other salary subject to California's longstanding repudiation of the "fluctuating work week" methodology for calculating overtime. The "bonus" moniker does not change the fundamental requirement of how overtime is to be calculated in California.

The Court of Appeal, in adopting the fluctuating work week approach, pinned its analysis, in part, on the fact that sections 49.2.4.2 and 49.2.4.3 of the DLSE Manual, which expressly dealt with calculating overtime in the context of flat rate "bonuses", were not expressly tied, in those sections of the Manual, to any case law or other authority dealing with overtime on flat rate "bonuses" (Slip Op.22). Without such support, the Court of Appeal reasoned, the Manual Provisions were not law, and therefore, the court was compelled to turn to a Federal Regulation

purportedly dealing with overtime on "flat rate bonuses" that authorized use of the "fluctuating work week" methodology. (Slip Op.24-25) In taking this approach, the Court of Appeal ignored the California authority cited above, putting blinders on to the fact that the flat amount "bonus" here was, as a matter of substance, no different than flat amount salaries in the California cases that have rejected the "fluctuating workweek" approach to calculating overtime.³

STATEMENT OF CASE

1. Facts

The facts in this case are undisputed. Dart Container corporation of California ("Dart") is a producer of food service products, including cups and plates. Appellant Alvarado began working for Dart in September 2010, as a warehouse associate, and was terminated in January 2012. (Slip Op. 2)

According to defendant's written policy, what Dart characterized as an "attendance bonus" would be paid to any employee who was scheduled to work a weekend shift and completed the full shift. (Slip Op. 2). The policy did not differentiate between days or weeks that would trigger overtime obligations, and those that would not. (Appx.68-70) The bonus was \$15 per day, for working a full shift on Saturday and/or Sunday, regardless of the number of hours, if any, worked beyond the normal

³ As will be demonstrated infra, the DOL Regulation the Court of Appeal turned to, was inappropriately relied on, even under Federal law.

scheduled length of a shift. (Appx. 68-70)

Dart calculates the amount of overtime paid on attendance bonuses during a particular pay period as follows:

- 1. Multiply the number of overtime hours worked in a pay period by the straight hourly rate (straight hourly pay for overtime hours).
- 2. Add the total amount owed in a pay period for (a) regular non-overtime work, (b) for extra pay such as attendance bonuses, and (c) overtime due from the first step. That total amount is divided by the total hours worked during the pay period. This amount is the employee's "regular rate."
- 3. Multiply the number of overtime hours worked in a pay period by the employee's regular rate, which is determined in step 2. This amount is then divided in half to obtain the "overtime premium" amount, which is multiplied by the total number of overtime hours worked in the pay period (overtime premium pay).
- 4. Add the amount from step 1 to the amount in step 3 (total overtime pay). This overtime pay is added to the employee's regular hourly pay and the attendance bonus. (Slip Op. 2-3)

During Appellant's employment, he worked some Saturdays and Sundays, including during weeks he worked overtime and sometimes double time; and therefore, was paid per Dart's policy. (Slip Op. 3)

The Dart formula operates in a manner consistent with the fluctuating

work week methodology rejected by *Skyline*. Applying the Dart formula to a hypothetical employee who works 45 hours in a week, earns an hourly rate of \$10.00 per hour, and works a Saturday and Sunday during the workweek, plays out as follows:

Step 1. 5 hours of OT x 10.00 (straight rate) = 50

Step 2. (a) 40 hours of non-overtime x \$10=\$400 plus (b) \$30.00 fixed amount, salary, for working on Saturday and Sunday plus (c) \$50 from step 1 = \$480. Dividing total by 45 hours = \$10.66

Step 3. 5 OT hours x \$10.66=\$53.30 divided by 2 to get "overtime premium amount" = \$26.65

Step 4. Adding step 1 to step 3 equals overtime pay under Dart's formula of \$76.65.

The foregoing contrasts to the *Skyline* and Labor Code 515(d) approach which would entail dividing the \$30 flat amount salary for the week in which Saturday and Sunday work occurred, by a non-overtime week's 40 hours = \$0.75. Add the \$0.75 to the hourly pay of \$10 = a regular rate of \$10.75 x 1.5 =\$16.12 per OT hour x 5 hours of overtime = \$80.60. With an additional 5 hours of overtime, this amount would, under the *Skyline* and Labor Code 515(d) be doubled, equaling \$161.20 in overtime pay. Under the Dart formula, approved by the Court of Appeal, an extra 5 hours of overtime would be less than double the overtime pay of \$76.65 under Dart's system for 5 hours:

Step 1. 10 hours of OT instead of 5 x 10=100

Step 2. (a) 40 hours of non-overtime x \$10=\$400 plus (b) \$30 fixed amount for working on Saturday and Sunday, plus (c) \$100 from step 1=\$530. Dividing the total by 50 hours =\$10.60. (6 cents less per hour than when amount of OT was 5 hours)

Step 3. 10 OT hours x \$10.60=\$106. divided by 2 to get "overtime premium amount" = \$53.00

Step 4. Add Step 1 to step 3 to get amount of overtime pay. \$153.00--- an amount less than double the amount payable if only 5 instead of 10 hours of overtime were worked under Dart's formula.

The more hours an employee works under the Court of Appeal decision, the less he or she receives per overtime hour worked. Further, the higher the flat amount component of a wage program under the system approved by the Court of Appeal, the greater the differential with each extra hour of overtime worked.

2. Proceedings in the Trial Court

In August 2012, plaintiff filed a complaint for damages and restitution, alleging defendant had not properly computed bonus overtime under California law. Plaintiff's complaint as amended (complaint) alleges the following causes of actions: (1) Failure to pay proper overtime in violation of Labor Code sections 510 and 1194 by not including shift differential premiums and bonuses in calculating overtime wages; (2)

Failure to provide complete and accurate wage statements, in violation of Labor Code section 226; (3) Failure to timely pay all earned wages due at separation of employment, in violation of Labor Code sections 201, 202, and 203; (4) Unfair Business Practices, in violation of Business and Professions Code section 17200 et seq.; and (5) civil penalties under the Private Attorneys' General Act of 2004, Labor Code section 2698 et seq. (PAGA). (Slip Op. 3-4)

Defendant filed a motion for summary judgment or, alternatively, for summary adjudication. Defendant argued that defendant's formula for calculating overtime on plaintiff's attendance "bonuses", earned during pay periods in which they were earned, was lawful, and there was no legal basis for plaintiff's proposed alternative formula. Defendant further argued federal law applied to calculating overtime on the bonuses because there was no California law providing a formula for calculating overtime on bonuses. Defendant asserted that plaintiff's proposed formula is based solely on California public policy and void regulations from the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement (DLSE) Manual which have no force or effect. Defendant concluded that, since defendant's overtime formula complies with federal law and does not conflict with state law, it is lawful, rendering the Complaint meritless. (Slip Op.4)

On April 30, 2014, the trial court granted Dart's Motion for Summary Judgment. Judgment was entered thereafter, and on June 3,2014 Notice of

entry of Judgment was filed. (Appx.143,159)

3. Proceedings on Appeal

Alvarado filed a timely appeal from the Judgment on July 31, 2014 (Appx.165) On January 14, 2016, the Court of Appeal upheld the judgment of the trial court in a published opinion. (Slip. Op)

ARGUMENT-REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

1. REVIEW OF THE CONFLICT BETWEEN THE COURT OF APPEAL'S RULING AND AUTHORITY THAT PRECEDED IT IS OF VITAL IMPORTANCE TO WORKING MEN AND WOMEN IN CALIFORNIA.

Wage Order No. 1, codified as title 8 California Code of Regulations section 11010(CCR), concerns the manufacturing industry and is therefore applicable in the instant case. It provides as to hourly employees that "employees shall not be employed more than eight (8) hours in any workday or more than 40 in a workweek unless the employee receives one and one half (1 1/2) times such employee's regular rate of pay for all hours worked over 40 hours in the workweek. Eight (8) hours of labor constitutes a day's work. Employment beyond eight (8) hours in any workday or more than six (6) days in any workweek is permissible provided the employee is compensated for such overtime at not less than: (a) One and one-half (1 1/2) times the employee's regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours up to and including twelve (12) hours in any workday,

100 Sept. 100 Se

and for the first eight (8) hours worked on the seventh (7th) consecutive day of work in a workweek; and (b) Double the employee's regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 12 hours in any workday and for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours on the seventh (7th) consecutive day of work in a workweek."

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