SUPREME COURT COPY

S232607

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

HECTOR ALVARADO,

v.

Plaintiff, Appellant, and Petitioner

Appellate Case No. E-061645 Justice Codrington, concurrence by Justice Hollenhorst and Justice King

DART CONTAINER CORPORATION OF CALIFORNIA,

Defendant and Respondent.

Civil Case No. RIC 1211707 Judge Ottolia, Superior Court of California, County of Riverside

> CRC 8.25(b) SUPREME COURT FILED

On Discretionary Review From The Court of Appeal In And For The Fourth Appellate District, Division Two

MAR **1 5** 2016

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

ARGUMENT

A. Alvarado Failed To Timely Raise The Issues He Now Presents To The Court In His Petition In The Court Of Appeal

Each time Alvarado has been unsuccessful in this litigation, he has altered his legal arguments in an apparent search for some authority to support his *policy* goals. By continuously testing different legal theories, Alvarado is effectively conceding that there is no California law upon which his proposed overtime formula is based. The instant Petition for Review is no different. The Petition once again abandons prior arguments and pieces together new issues and new authorities to create yet another moving target of a legal argument. Alvarado, however, is not entitled to yet another bite at the judicial apple. His failure to timely raise the issues upon which this Petition is based with the Court of Appeal warrants the denial of

his Petition pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(c)(1).

This litigation effectively began when Dart filed a Motion for Summary Judgment with the Trial Court, arguing that because there was no California law specifying a formula for calculating overtime owed when an employee is paid a bonus in the same pay period in which it is earned, Dart correctly followed federal law. Because the facts were not in dispute, the parties drafted a Joint Statement of Undisputed Material Facts upon which both parties relied.

With the undisputed facts as the backdrop, Alvarado based his entire Opposition to Dart's Motion for Summary Judgment on the case of *Marin v. Costco Wholesale Corporation* (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 804 with a tangential reference to *Skyline Homes, Inc. v. Department of Industrial Relations* (1985) 165 Cal.App.3d 239. (AA, p. 098-112.) Alvarado argued that *Marin* was the controlling California law in this case: "[*Marin*] is precisely on point and deals with the exact same issue in this case: bonuses and calculation of Regular Rate of Pay!" (AA, p. 105:9-11.) Alvarado argued (incorrectly) that the *Marin* court adopted the DLSE Enforcement Manual's two categories of bonuses, production bonuses and flat sum bonuses, and that Dart's bonus was a flat sum bonus. (AA, p.106:16-108, 4.) He concluded by urging the Trial Court to adopt the DLSE Enforcement Manual's provisions regarding flat sum bonuses and apply the DLSE's flat sum bonus formula to this case. (AA, p. 109:24-110:24.)

The Trial Court rejected Alvarado's arguments, granted Dart's Motion for Summary Judgment and entered judgment in favor of Dart. Alvarado responded by filing an appeal that radically changed course. Specifically, in his Opening Brief before the Court of Appeal, Alvarado abandoned *Marin*, arguing that *Skyline*, supported by a 1991 DLSE Opinion Letter, is controlling California law governing the formula that must be used when calculating overtime on flat sum bonuses. (Alvarado's Opening

Appellate Brief ("Opening Brief"), p. 10-12, 20-21.) Although Alvarado's legal authorities and argument changed, his Opening Brief was still based on the undisputed facts upon which the parties agreed in the proceedings below. (Opening Brief, p. 4-9.) After Dart filed its brief, Alvarado filed his Reply Brief, again reasserting *Skyline* in support of his flat sum bonus formula and again agreeing that the issue presented is whether Dart used the appropriate formula for calculating overtime on the flat sum bonus. (Alvarado's Reply Brief, p. 7-16.)

After the Court of Appeal issued its tentative opinion on October 14, 2015, Petitioner associated in new counsel, Dennis F. Moss, on December 23, 2015. (Association of New Counsel, p. 1-2.) Mr. Moss presented oral argument on behalf of Alvarado in lieu of original counsel, Lavi & Ebrahimian. That oral argument was not based on the briefs filed or positions previously taken by Alvarado, but rather consisted entirely of arguments that had never been made before the Trial Court or in Alvarado's appellate briefs. The most surprising about-face was Alvarado's new contention that the attendance bonus was not a bonus but rather a salary, which flew in the face of all of Alvarado's previously filings and was in direct contradiction of Alvarado's concession and long-standing agreement that the attendance bonus is, in fact, a bonus.

In its decision in favor of Dart, the Court of Appeal confirmed that there was only one issue before the Court: "This appeal raises the sole question of law of whether defendant's formula for calculating overtime on flat sum bonuses paid in the same pay period in which they are earned is lawful." (Opinion, p. 2.) The Court answered the issue in the affirmative, finding in favor of Dart because there is no California law specifying a method for computing overtime on a flat sum bonus and Dart's formula complied with federal law. (*Id.*)

The Court of Appeal noted the impropriety of Alvarado's new and

untimely arguments, stating in its Opinion:

During oral argument plaintiff untimely raised new legal theories not previously briefed by plaintiff and authority not included in plaintiff's appellate briefs. Plaintiff argued for the first time the flat sum bonus was not actually a bonus but rather a salary, and the flat sum bonus was artificially labeled a bonus, constituting a subterfuge that operates to evade overtime pay laws by reducing the regular hourly rate when overtime hours are worked on the weekend. The legal authority, raised for the first time during oral argument, included Huntington Memorial Hospital v. Superior Court (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 893; Walling v. Youngerman-Reynolds Hardwood Co. (1945) 325 U.S. 419, 424-425; 29 CFR § 778.203 (premium pay for work on Saturdays, Sundays and other "special days"); 29 CFR § 778.327(b) (temporary or sporadic reduction in schedule); and 29 CFR § 778.502 (artificially labeling part of the regular wages a "bonus.")

We do not address in this decision such untimely, waived theories and legal authority on the grounds plaintiff did not include them in its appellate opening brief or reply; plaintiff did not provide defendant or this court with notice before oral argument of plaintiff's intent to rely on new legal authority and raise new theories; and defendant therefore did not have an opportunity to review and provide a fully informed response to such new theories and legal authorities.

Furthermore, without suggesting whether plaintiff's new theories and legal authority have merit, we decline to consider them because plaintiff has not demonstrated good cause for raising them for the first time during appellate oral argument. (See Shade Foods, Inc. v. Innovative Products Sales & Marketing, Inc.

(2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 847, 894, fn. 10 [points raised in appellate reply brief for the first time will not be considered, unless good reason is shown for failure to present them before]; Acquire II, Ltd. v. Colton Real Estate Group (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 959, 977, fn. 12; Estate of McDaniel (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 458, 463, quoting People v. Harris (1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 672, 686 ["contentions raised for the first time at oral argument are disfavored and may be rejected solely on the ground of their untimeliness."].

In filing this Petition for Review, Alvarado is seeking a *fourth* bite at the judicial apple, raising the untimely legal theories and authorities presented at oral argument as well as a new, fourth set of legal theories. Pursuant to California Rule of Court, Rule 8.500(c)(1), which provides that "[a]s a policy matter, on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal," Dart respectfully submits that Alvarado's Petition must be denied because Alvarado failed to raise the issues he now asks this Court to decide.

The new legal and factual issues Alvarado raises in his Petition for Review include the following:

- Whether the attendance bonus is not a bonus but rather a "fixed salary component." (See, e.g., Petition, p. 2.)
- The effect of a 1957 Attorney General Opinion rejecting the federal fluctuating work week methodology for women.
 (Petition, p. 2, 17-19, citing 29 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen 57-20 (May 15, 1957).)

- The effect of the 1963 "Findings" of the Industrial Welfare Commission. (Petition, p. 19-20.)
- The "consistent application of Skyline's analysis in

subsequent appellate decisions" (Petition, p. 28), including:

- Alcala v. Western Ag Enterprises (1986) 82
 Cal.App.3d 546, 551. (Petition, p. 23.)
- Hernandez v. Mendoza (1988) 199 Cal.App.3d, 721
 725. (Petition, p. 23-24.)
- Ghory v. Al-Lahham (1989) 299 Cal.App.3d 1487,
 1491. (Petition, p. 24.)
- The effect of Section 48 of the DLSE Manual. (Petition, p. 29-30.)
- The effect of *Huntington Memorial v. Superior Court* (2007) 131 Cal.App.4th 893. (Petition, p. 30-32.)
- The effect of Walling v. Hardwood Co. (1945) 325 U.S. 419, 424. (Petition, p. 31.)
- The effect of Reich v. Midwest Body Corp. (N.D. III 1994)
 843 F.Supp. 1249, 1251. (Petition, p. 32.)
- The effect of Title 29 of the Code of Federal Regulations, section 778.327. (Petition, p. 31.)
- The effect of Title 29 of the Code of Federal Regulations, section 778.500. (Petition, p. 32.)
- The effect of Title 29 of the Code of Federal Regulations, section 778.502. (Petition, p. 33-34.)
- The effect of Title 29 of the Code of Federal Regulations, section 778.203. (Petition, p. 34-35.)
- The effect of the fact that all Dart employees eligible for the attendance bonus earned less than \$10.00 per hour, a fact not in the record, but which Alvarado necessarily assumes is true for Title 29 of the Code of Federal Regulations section 778.203 to be applicable. (Petition, p. 34-35.)

• The effect of Title 29 of the United States Code, section 207(e)(5). (Petition, p. 35.)

Regardless of the fact that not one of the cases that Alvarado now asks this Court to consider, nor any of the other authorities referenced by Alvarado are new, Alvarado failed to submit any reason whatsoever, much less any viable reason, as to why he never raised such cases and authorities, and arguments based thereon, in the Court of Appeal. Alvarado offers no explanation obviously because no good explanation exists. Rather, it appears that these are simply new issues that were raised by new counsel that Alvarado associated in at the eleventh hour, after the Court of Appeal issued its tentative opinion in favor of Dart and against Alvarado.

Alvarado's attempt to rewrite the factual and legal issues in this case, at well past the eleventh hour, in not appropriate and unacceptable. There is no reason for this Court to deviate from its normal policy of declining to consider an issue the Court of Appeal was not asked to consider. (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(c)(1); see also *People v*. *McCullough* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 589, 591, n.1.) Dart therefore respectfully requests that the Court deny the Petition on the basis that it asks the Court to determine issues not raised with the Court of Appeal.

B. The Court Of Appeal's Statement Of The Issue And Facts Should Be Accepted

Alvarado's claim of four issues for review and repudiation of the previously undisputed fact that the attendance bonus is a bonus is an exercise in obfuscation. There is, and always has been, only one issue in this case, as unequivocally determined by the Court of Appeal: "This appeal raises the sole question of law of whether defendant's formula for calculating overtime on flat sum bonuses paid in the same pay period in which they are earned is lawful." (Opinion, p. 2.) Dart respectfully urges

this Court to follow its normal practice, per California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(c)(2), of accepting the statement of issues and facts stated in the Opinion filed by the Court of Appeal, and reject Alvarado's statement of issues and facts.

Specifically, Alvarado seeks to expand the single straightforward issue originally identified by the parties and reiterated by the Court of Appeal to four new issues that use terms of art ("fixed amount component of a weekly wage"), incorporate new facts (the attendance bonus is a salary, not a bonus) and reference federal regulations (29 CFR 778.502 and 29 CFR 778.203) that had never been at issue previously. Thus, his Petition contends that this Court should consider:

- 1. Under California law, how must an employer calculate the 'regular rate' for the purpose of determining overtime pay when a weekly wage has an hourly component and a fixed amount component that is payable irrespective of whether or not overtime hours are worked?
- 2. Can an employer, under California law, divide a flat sum component of a weekly wage by total hours worked each week (apply 'fluctuating workweek' methodology) to arrive at the 'regular rate' for purposes of calculating overtime, where the number of hours varies from week to week, causing the overtime rate to decrease each week that the amount of overtime work increases?
- 3. Does California law require an employer to divide a flat sum component of a weekly wage by the maximum number of non-overtime hours for the week (e.g. 40 hours) in determining the 'regular rate' to be utilized in calculating overtime?
- 4. If California law is indeed silent on how to calculate overtime when flat sums called

'bonuses' are paid as part of a weekly wage, was the Court of Appeal's application of 29 CFR 788.209 (a) [sic] wrong, given the provisions of 29 CFR 778.502 and 29 CFR 778.203. (Petition, p. 1.)

Each issue asks the Court to depart from a focused inquiry based on the undisputed facts of this case and instead broadly determine imprecise issues that, even if resolved, do not answer the one specific question that was at issue in this litigation – whether Dart's formula for calculating overtime on flat sum bonuses paid in the same pay period in which they are earned is lawful.

Alvarado's briefs before the Court of Appeal are even inconsistent with his current version of the issues. In his Court of Appeal briefs, Alvarado framed the issue in the same manner as did the Court of Appeal: "[Alvarado] filed a wage and hour class action against his former employer [Dart] alleging [Dart's] formula for computing overtime compensation on flat sum bonuses paid to hourly employees for weekend work failed to comply with California law." (Opening Brief, p. 1.)

Moreover, prior to Alvarado's association of new counsel, the facts had always been undisputed. Alvarado's original counsel signed a Joint Statement of Undisputed Material Facts conceding and agreeing that Dart's attendance bonus was a bonus paid in the same pay period in which it was earned. (AA, p. 069-079.) Alvarado (as well as Dart, the Trial Court and the Court of Appeal) have all relied on the Joint Statement of Undisputed Material Facts throughout all proceedings. For the first time at oral argument before the Court of Appeal, Alvarado attempted to re-write the facts, claiming this case was not about bonuses at all, but rather about a "salary." As shown above, the Court of Appeal was unpersuaded by such untimely and contradictory argument.

California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(c)(2) provides that "[a] party may petition for review without petitioning for rehearing in the Court of Appeal, but as a policy matter the Supreme Court normally will accept the Court of Appeal opinion's statement of the issues and facts unless the party has called the Court of Appeal's attention to any alleged omission or misstatement of an issue or fact in a petition for rehearing." Here, Alvarado never petitioned the Court of Appeal for rehearing at all, much less on the basis that the Court of Appeal omitted or misstated an issue or fact. The Court of Appeal did not omit or misstate the issue or facts, nor could it have reasonably done so, since the Trial Court proceedings as well as the appeal were based on stipulated facts. There is no basis for this Court to tolerate Alvarado's attempt to now repudiate the facts which he agreed were undisputed or the sole issue he admitted was in dispute. Dart respectfully requests that the Court accept the statement of the issue and facts identified in the Opinion filed by the Court of Appeal in its entirety, and reject the issues and facts proffered in the Petition pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(c)(2).

C. There Is No Conflict Or Question Of Law Because There Is No Law On Point

Alvarado's entire Petition is premised on an alleged conflict of law that purportedly justifies this Court's intervention. But there can be no conflict of law when, as found by the Trial Court and the Court of Appeal, there is no California law on point.

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